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RELEVANT FACTUAL BACKGROUND. 1
A. The Solicitation.

On August 12, 2011, the United States Air Forc&géncy) issued Solicitation No.
FA4610-09-RO013 (“Soliciatior’). AR Tab5 at 115. The purpose of the Solicitation was to
provide a wide range of support services required by théh3ight Test Squadron for Force
Development Evaluation Minuteman Launches at Vandenberg Air Force Galffernia. AR
Tab 2 & 7. These services inclded, but were not limited tdlaunch facility refurbishment,
corrosion control services, vehicle issue and control, management servicesiaianty t
services” and were “designated as ‘mission essential’ pursuant to Departmereéénse
Instruction 3020.37[7] Id.

The Solicitation required offerors to submit proposalsvo parts, a price proposal and a
technical proposal. AR Tab 5 at 165. Twdicitation statedhatthe Agency woulduse a four
step evaluation process toatuate proposals and award the contrald. at 168. First, the
Agencywould evaluateeach technical proposal for “Technical Acceptabilityd. Second, the
Agencywould determineaf discussions were necessarld. Third, the Agencyvould rank all
price proposals by price, highest to lowekt. Finally, the Agencyvould award the contract to
the lowest priced technically acceptable offeriat.

When determining a proposal’s “Technical Acceptabilityye Agency would examine
each proposal usg four evaluation subfactors: (A) Understanding of Requirements and
Technical Approach; (B) Technical Capabiltgunch Refurbishment Services; (C) Technical
CapabilityCorrosion Control Services; and (D) Technical Capabilighicle Management
Services.Id. at 16869. Each subfactorauld beevaluated “on a pass/fail basis” awduld be
assigned a rating of “Acceptable or Not Acceptable.’at 168.

Under Subfactor A, a rating of “Acceptable” wasbe given if

[o]fferor has conveyed an understanding of and a sound technical
approach/methodology to fulfilling each of the following requirements: taunc
facility refurbishment, corrosion control services, maintenancegrams
management services, vehicle issue and control services, equipmenamgsu
control services, training management services, and environmeanagement
service§]

AR Tab 5 at 168.
Under Subfactor B, a raijy of “Acceptable” was given if

[t]he offeror has provided evidence that each proposed staff member pegform
launch réurbishment services has all of the following licenses, training, and

! The relwant facts are derived from thi#une 8, 2012 Administrative Record, as
amended on June 19, 2012 (“AR 143



certifications: (a) National Commission for the Certification of Crane
Operations/Part | Knowledge & Part Il Practical Test (Certificate) C@mfined
Space Training (Certificate), arid) has evidence of HAZWOPER training within
the last year (either Initial 2dr HAZWOPER Course (Certificate), or-t
HAZWOPER (Refresher Course Prof))

AR Tab 5 at 169.
Under Subfactor C, a rag of “Acceptable” was given if

[t]he offeror has mvided evidence that each proposed staff member performing
corrosion control services has both of the following licenses, trainind, a
certifications: (a) State of California Department of Health Lead &tlat
Construction “Worker” certificate, (b) has dence of HAZWOPER training
within the last year (either Initial 2dr HAZWOPER Course (Certificate), o8
HAZWOPER (Refresher Course Proof)), and (c) Confined Space fgaini
(Certificate].]

AR Tab 5 at 169.
Under Subfactor D, a rating &hcceptablé was given if

[tihe offeror has provided evidence that at least one staff member performing
vehicle management services has all of the following licenses, tyaiamd
certifications: (a) 2th Air Force ICBM Maintenance Instructors Course
(Certificate)or equivalent training instructor/teaching qualifications, (b) State of
California Dept of Motor Vehicles, Class “A” (3 Axle) Drivers License) (c
National Commission for the Certification of Crane Operators/Part iMauge

& Part Il Practical Test (Certificate) and (d) Forklift Operator (Heate).]

AR Tab 5 at 169.

After determining whethean offeror's proposal was “Tenltally Acceptable,” the

Solicitation provided that the Agency would evaluaach offeror’s proposal for reasonableness
and afordability.” Id. The Solicitation defined “Reasonableness” as “a price to the Government

that a prudent person would pay in the conduct of competitive businéds.at 170. The

Solicitation stagd that “price reasonablenessbwid be “established through price competition,”

requiiing the Agency to conduct an “affordability assessment” that would “condigetotal
estimated contract price as compared to the project budget for [the] prodcankinally, under
the price evaluation factor set forth the Solicitation, the Agencyould rank all offerors
“according to price (including any option prices), from highest to lowest"aavard the contract
to thelowest priced technically acceptable offerda.



B. The Proposals.

Four offerors, including Phoenix Management, Inc. (“Phoenix” or “Plaintiff’) and
defendanintervenor Alliance Technical Services, Inc. (“ATS”), submittedpmsals in response
to the Solicitation. The Agency deemed all offerors’ proposals timely and ¢adini
acceptable. ARdb 13 at 730, 746; AR Tab 39 at 1548 The two proposals at issue here are
those of Phoenix and ATS.

On September 12, 2011, Phoenix submitted a proposal. AR Tab 6. The Agency
evaluated Phoenix’s proposal as acceptable in all four technical subfaskiBab 9 at 74618.
The Agency rated Phoenix’s proposal second overall. AR Tab 33 at 1265.

On September 15, 2011, ATS submittgar@posal. AR Tab 7. On September 26, 2011,
the Agencyfound ATS’s proposal as acceptable in all four technical subfact AR Tab 9 at
675-79.

On November 2, 2011, the Agency issued a Notice to Unsuccessful Offerors idgntifyi
ATS as the apparent successful offeror. AR Tab 12 at 717.

On November 4, 2011, the Agency completed a Proposal Analysis Repolingetail
analysis of all four proposals. AR Tab 13 at 729-50.

Il. PROCEDURAL HISTORY.
A. Before The Government Accountability Office

On November 14, 2011Phoenix filed an initial protest with the Government
Accountability Offie (‘GAQ”) challenging the gencys awardof the contracto ATS. AR
Tab 21 at 1011, 10337. Phoenix disputetthe award on the groundisat (1) the agency failed
to reject ATS's proposatwhere ATS improperly obtained access to inside,-mpablic,
competitively useful information and nguublic proprietary information of PMI not otherwise
available to other offerors, and used this infation in the preparation of [IKS's] proposal
(2) as a result of ATS proposed project managefunauthorized use of PMI’'s proprietary
data; ATS had‘an umnitigable unequal access to information organizational conflict of interest
(OCI);” (3) ATS, through these actions, violated the Procurement Integrity “RtAY(); and
(4) the Agency’s “evaluation of [ATSs] price proposal was prejudicially flawedAR Tab 21 at
1022-23 see alsd’rocurement Integrity Act, 41 U.S.€423 (2006) Phoenix also challenged
ATS'’s useof credentialsheld by employees of URS Federal Services (“URST. at 1025,
1035-36.

On November 16, 2011, Phoersywbmitted a notice od AA violation, which asserted
that ATS improperly obtained and used the licenses, certifications, andwgyaetords of certain
Phoenixemployeedo meet the technical requirementsR Tab 22 at 1049, 10501. Phoenix
sad that these employéeslocumernd were Phoenixs “source selection information” and
“proprietary information.” Id. at 1050. Roenixalso contendethat ATSs use ofPhoenixs
employeeslicenses, certifications, and training records in AJ Btoposal constituted a violation
of the PIA. Id. at 1050-51.



On November 18, 2011hé Agency submitted a requegxrtially to dismiss Phoenix’s
protest as speculative. AR Tab 23.

On November 282011, Poenix submitteda first supplemental protest with the GAO.
AR Tab 24 at 1148. Phoenix includd as exhibits to this submission, November 8, 2011
statementsrom, among othetPhoenix personne |l I and I stating:
“Please be advised that | have not been asked for my resume or any certificabese |
authorized the use tihe same except to Phoenix Management Incorporatdddt 1188-90.

On November 292011, he Agency informed the GAO that'‘itntends to investigate the
allegation that [ATS] violated the [PIA] and that it has an unmitigable [OCAR Tab 25 at
1205. In light of the Agencys decision to take corrective action, the GM@s requested to
dismissPhoenix’s protest as moold.

On November 30, 2011, Phoemlgjectedto the corrective actioasinadequatehecause
it did not address Phoenix’s contentiohattthe Agency relaxed its stated evaluation criteria in
ATS’s favor or that ATS misrepresented its permission to use Phampioyees’ credentials in
its proposal. AR Tab 43 at 1621.

On December 1, 2011he GAO dismisse®hoenixs protest. AR Tab 27 at 1212-13.

On January 11, 2012, the Contracting Offige€0O”) issued Determinations and
Findings, concluimhg: (1) pursuant to FAR 3.10%(a)(1), “the information which was allegedly
disclosed to ATS did not constitute proprietary or source selectiortigensformation.” (AR
Tab 30 at 1226 (2) the employees voluntarily provided the information “without any
involvement or control by the Government.”ld.; (3) pursuant to FAR 9.504(c), “no
organizational conflict of interest exists, no unequal acce€3Qbinformation has occurred
providing an unfair competitive advantage to ATS, and . . . it did not compromiseedfsaty of
the procurement or award process.” AR Tab 31 at 1243; anBh@@nixs allegations of a
possible PIA violation weréunsuppoted and without merit. AR Tab 39 at 1551 (citing AR
Tab 30 at 1223).

On February 17, 2012, the Agency issued a Contract Award Notice affirming g€ init
award to ATS. AR Tab 32.

On February 27, 2012, Phoenix filed a new protest with the GAO. AR Tab 34.

On March 13, 2012, ATS moved to dismiss Phoenix’s February 27, @BL2 protest.
AR Tab 37.

On March 14, 2012, the Agency informed the GAO that it concurred witHsAmStion
to dismiss. AR Tab 38.

On March 28, 2012, th€O signed a Statement of Racasserting that the Agency
“properly evaluated the solicitation.” AR Tab 39 at 1568.

On April 9, 2012, Phoenix filed Comments to the Agency Report, which reiterat
Phoenix’s arguments and requested a hearing. AR Tab 41.



On May 17,2012, the GAO dead Phoenixs protestand rejectedPhoenix’s contentions
that ATS materially misrepresented in its proposal: tbettain personnel would be available to
perform the contracATS violated the PIAand ATS had an impermissible OCAR Tab 42at
1611-16.

B. Before The United States Court Of Federal Claims.

On May 23, 2012, Phoenix filed a tveount Complaint For Injunctive And Declaratory
Relief in the United States Court of Federal Claims against the United Stage&overnment”)
for violating 10 U.S.C. 8§ 2305(b)(1), FAR 15.303(b)(4), and FAR 15805(n addition,
Phoenix filedan Application For A Temporary Restraining Order and Motion For A Prelinginar
Injunction. These filings were submittezthd placedinder seal.

On May 23, 2012, Phoenix filed Plaiifis Motion For Protective Order.

On May 25, 2012, ATS filed an unopposed Motion To Intervene Pursuant To Rule
24(a)(2). On May 30, 2012, the court granteat motion.

On May 29, 2012, the Government filed an unopposed Motion For Protective Order. On
May 31, 2012, the court issued a Protective Order.

On May 29, 2012, the parties filed a Proposed Schedule Pursuant To Court Order. On
May 31, 2012, the court issued a scheduling order.

On May 30, 2012, Phoenix filed Plaintiff's Motion For Discove@n June 15, 2012, the
court issued an ordedenying the motiorfor the reasons stated during a telephone status
conference.

On June 8, 2012, the Government filed Defendant’'s Motion For Leave To File The
Administrative Record On CD. On June 11, 2012, the court grardechdiion.

On June 8, 2012, the Government filed Defendant’s Notice Of Filing Admingtrati
Record.

On June 12, 2012, Phoenix filedMotion And Brief In Support To Supplement The
Administrative Record And The Court’'s RecoftFirst Mot Supp?), with May 22, 2012
declarationdrom two URS employees On June 12, 2012, the Government filed Defendant’s
Motion To Strikethose declaration€Compl. Ex. Nos. 23 and 24). On June 14, 2012, Phoenix
fled a Response. On June 15, 2012, the candicated that itlikely would not permit
supplementation of the Administrative Recdrdt that it would withhold a ruling until issuing a
final decisionon the merits. Today, the court denies Phoenix’s June 12, 2012 Motion and grants
the Government’s Jie 12, 2012 MotioA.

2 The Administrative Record should be limited “to the record actually before the
agency. . .to guard against courts using new evidencedonvet the“arbitrary and capriciotis
standard into effectively de novo reviéi.Axiom Res. Mgmt., Ine. United States564 F.3d
1374, 1380 (Fed. Cir. 2009yuotingMurakamiv. United States46 Fed.Cl. 731, 735 (2000),



On June 19, 2012, the Government filed an Unopposed Motion To Amend/Correct The
Administrative Record. On June 19, 2012, the court granted the motion. On June 20, 2012, the
Government filed Defendant’s Notice Of Filing The Corredédinistrative Record.

On June 22, 2012, Phoenix filadViotion For Judgment On The Administrative Record
(“Pl. Mot. JAR’). On July 9, 2012, the Government filed Defendant’s Motion For Judgment
Upon The Administrative Record And Response To Plaintiff's Motion For Judgaport The
Administrative Record Gov't Mot. JAR). On July 9, 2012, ATSalso filed a Motion For
Judgment On The Administrative Record (“IMot. JAR).

On July 25, 2012, Phoenix filedCombined Response To Defendant’s And Intervenor
Motions For Judgment On The Admstrative Record

On August 6, 2012, ATS filed Motion To Dismiss Pursuant To RCFC 12(b)(1) And
Reply To The Combined Response To Defendant’s And Intervenor’s Motionkiéigment On
The Administrative Record [fit. Mot. Dismiss”). On September 6, 2012, Phoenix fiéed
Response (“Pl. Resfg.o Int. Mot. Dismis¥. On September 72012,the Government filed a
Response. On September 24, 2012, ATS filed a Reply (“Int. Reply Mot. Dismiss”).

On September 6, 2012, Phoenited a <second Motion To Supplement The
Administrative Record And The Court’'s Recondth the September 6, 2011 questions and
answers accompanying Amendment 0005 to the Solicitét8stond Mot. Supj). SeeSecond
Mot. Supp, Ex. A On September 24, 20, the Government filed a Responsen September
24, 2012, ATS filed a Response included in its Reply to the Responses to ltst Au@012
Motion To Dismiss. Int. Reply Mot. Dismiss. Today, the court grants Phoenix’srSkegt 6,
2012 second Motiond Supplement The Administrative Record And The Court's Retord

aff'd, 398 F.3d 1342 (FedCir. 2005). The declarations that Phoenix requested to add to the
Administrative Record were not “actually before the agency[,]” bueatswere made after the
completion of the Agency’s investigation and the GAQO’s denial of Phoepigtest. Although
Phoenixasserts that supplementation is necessary to enable the court “to conducta ankl f
complete [Administrative Procedure Act] review of the Governmenmta figency decision[,]”
First Mot. Supp. at 8, the declarations offer evidence as to the tr@sscof the Agency’s
conclusions rather than whether the Agency had a rational basis to reaclotiuissians. The
Administrative Record already contains February 23, 2012 declardtioms the same two
declarants. AR Tab 34 at 1352, 1354. Thoseadattbns are sufficient for this court to exercise
rational basis review of the Agency’s actions.

® Supplemerdtion of the Administrative Record is appropriate where necessargén or
not “to frustrate effective judicial review."Campv. Pitts, 411 U.S. 138, 14243 (1973). The
supplementation requested by Phoenix’s September 6, 2012 Motion is relevant to the court’s
analysis of standing and is therefore necessary for effective jutheiaw. Seeinfra, Section
lll.B (quoting language in the supplemented record to clarify an ambigGalisitation
requirement).



1. DISCUSSION.
A. Jurisdiction.

The May 23 2012 postaward bid protest Complaint in this case alleges that the
November 9, 201award toATS violated10 U.S.C. § 2305(b)(1) (20065AR 15.303(bj4), and
FAR 15.305(a)becausethe Agency did not reject ATS’s technical propog&al failing “to
provide evidence that each proposed staff member’ ‘has’ all of thereddicenses, training,
and certifications consistent with the evaluation criteri®ubfactors B and C.” Comgl. 105.

The Complaint also alleges that ATS made a material falsenstat in its technical proposal
and thathe Agency relied on that false statement in finding the technical ptcmzsgptableso
that “[tlhe Agency’s investigation, findings and conclusion that there wasisrepresentation
and its evaluation of ATS’ technical proposal were arbitrary, capricious raatiomall.]”
Compl. 1196-98.

The Complainfurtheralleges that th6&AO acted arbitrarily and capricisly in refusng
to grant a hearing on the matter and in issuingvthg 17, 2012 decision. Comlf 99, 103.1t
is settled that # United States Court of Federal Claims has nsdigtion to review GAO
actions. SeeHealth Sys. Mktg. & Dev. Corp. United States26 Cl. Ct. 1322, 1325 (1992)
(stating that the court does not “act as an appeals court for the Comimtieral’s decisions”).
The United States Court of Federal Clainmwever,does have jurisdiction to review an
agency’s decision to low a GAO recommendation.SeeTurner Const. Co., Incv. United
States 645 F.3d 1377, 1383 (Fed. Cir. 2014jfirming the court’'s determination thah agency
decision to follow &5A0 recommendation was arbitrary and capricjous

Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1491(b)(1) (2006), the United States Cdtatiefal Claims has
jurisdiction

to render judgment on an action by an interested party objecting to a solicitation
by a Federal agency for bids or proposals for a proposed contract or to a proposed
award orthe award of a contract or any alleged violation of statute or regulation
in connection with a procurement or a proposed procurement.

Accordingly, 28 U.S.C. § 1491(b)(1) authorizes the court to adjudicate the eléegesd
in theMay 23 2012Complant.

B. Standing.

As a threshold matter, a plaintiff contesting the award of a federahcomust establish
that it is an “interested party” to have standing under 28 U.S.C. § 1491(byd¢gMyers
Investigative & Sec. Servs., Ing. United States 275 F.3d 1366, 1369 (Fed. Cir. 2002)
(“[S]tanding is athreshold jurisdictional issu@. The United States Court of Appeals for the
Federal Circuit has construed the term “interested p#otipesynonymous withthe definition of
“interested party”provided in the Competition in Contracting Act of 1984, 31 U.S.C. §
3551(2)(A) (“CICA”"). See Rex Serv. Camp. United States448 F.3d 1305, 1307 (Fed. Cir.
2006) (citing decisions adopting the CICA definition of “interested padytonvey standing



under28 U.S.C. § 1491(b)(1)). A twpart test is applied to determine whether a gtetels an
“interested party,’a protestor must establish thal) it was an actual or prospective bidder or
offeror, and (2) it had a direct economic interest in the procurement or proposedeprent.”
Distrib. Solutions, Incv. United States539 F.3d 1340, 1344 (Fed. Cir. 2008).

Intervenor ATS asserts that Phoenix ha direct economic interest this caseébecause
Phoenix did not submit a qualifying bid. Int. Motisiniss2-8. Specifically, Phoenix failed to
comply with theSolicitation requiementthat “at least one staff member performing vehicle
management services has all of the following licenses, training, atificagons[.]” Id. ATS
assertgdhat no Phoear staff membesatisfiedthe entire list of qualificationsld. at 7. ATS also
asserts that the Solicitation unambiguously requires a single statber to possess all of the
gualifications, and that the Solicitation cannot be modified without amendnmenRelply Mot.
Dismiss at 23 (citing FARS 15.206).

Phoenix respondthat a single Phoenix staff memb{jjilld met the entire list of
gualifications. Pl. Resf.o Int. Mot. Dismiss3-5. In addition, Phoeniasserts that the language
of the licitation, although ambiguous, requsenly that for each qualificatioan offeror must
be able to identify at least one staff member who met that quabficatid. An Agency
statement supports Phoenix’s interpretation. In its questions and answerspanying
Amendment 0005 to the Solicitation, issued on September 6, 2011, the Agency stated,
“Government understands that one person or more than one person may possésthall [
gualifications] or some combination thereof for fulfilling all certifioa requirements” of the
solicitation provision in question. Second Mot. Suigx. A at 17(FA4610-09-R0O013, 576
FLTS Minuteman Launch Support Services, Questions and Answers as of 6 SgB@6HlIso
AR Tab 6 at 359 (acknowledging that Phoenix received Amendme@st i@€fore submitting its
bid). In addition, the Agency later concluded that Phoenix’s proposal satiséiedandard set
out in the Solicitation. AR at 684 (finding that Phoenmade “[a]ll certifications/licenses
requested for this Subfactor were provided to show evidence that rstafibers met
requirements” (emphasis added)).

The Government argues that the “PADMAF Training Course” compley
(AR Tab 6 at 495does not satisfy the certification requirement in the Solicitatia0"” Air
Force ICBM Maintenance Instructors Course (Certificate) or equivaleaining
instructor/teaching qualifications[,]” AR Tab 5 at 169. But neither tbge@1ment nor ATS
disputeghatat least one PMI staff member hel@ thecessargredentigs. Given the Agency’s
publishedinterpretation of the ambiguous Solicitation atslconclusion that Phoenix met the
requirement in question, the cohids determinethat Phoenix met its burdea establishthat it
submitted a qualified bid.

A secondstanding requirement is that theotestormust show that the alleged errors in
the procurement were prejudiciabee Labatt Food Serv., Inc.United States577 F.3d 1375,
1378 (Fed. Cir. 2009) (“It is basic that because the question of prejudicaligedty to the
guestion of standing, the prejudice issue must be reached before addrbesimgrits.”)
(internal quotation marks omittgdsee also Myer275 F.3d at 1370 (“[P]rejudice (or injury) is a
necessary element of standing.Brejudiceis demonstrated where the protestman show that
but for the error, it would have had a substantial chance of securing the contraoatt, 577



F.3d at 1378. Importantly, a proper standing inquiry must not conflate the requirements of
“direct economic interest” and prejudicial errorld. at 1380 (explaining that examining
economic interest but excluding prejudicial error from the standing ynéwwould create a rule
that, to an unsuccessful but economically interested offeror in a bid pratgseriar is
harmful”).

If, as Phoenix asserts, the Agency erred in awarding ATS the contract, ¥ inaerhdl
have had a substantial chance of securing the contga&AR Tab 33 at 1265 (stating that the
Agency rated Phoenix’s bid second overallherefore, tk court has determined thiahoenix
has standing to contest the award of the contract at issue in this case.

C. Standard Of Review

Pursuant to the Tucker Act, 28 U.S.C. § 1491, as amended by the Administrative Dispute
Resolution Act, Pub. L. No. 16320 § 12, 110 Stat. 3870, 3874 (Oct. 19, 1996), the United
States Court of Federal Clainssrequired taeview challenges to an agency decisipoysuant
to the standards set forth in the Administrative Procedure Act (“AP28 U.S.C. § 1491(b)(4)

(“In any adion under this subsection, the courts shall review the agency’s decision pursuant to
the standards set forth in section 706 of title s8¢ alsob U.S.C. § 706(2)(A)2006) The
reviewing court shafthold unlawful and set aside agency action, findings, and conclusions
found to be . .arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion, or otherwise not in accordahce wit
law.”); Banknote Corp. of Am., Ine. United States365 F.3d 1345, 1350 (Fed. Cir. 2004)
(“Among the various APA standards of reviewsiaction 706, the proper standard to be applied
in bid protest cases is provided by 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(A): a reviewing court shakide the
agency action if it is ‘arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion, or adgenat in accordance
with law.””). The United States Court of Appeals for the Federal Ciroag provided the trial
courts with specific guidance in how to analyze the required showinggudactive relief under
APA standards.

The United States Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit has held bichbavard may
be set aside if fte procurement procedure involved a violation of regulation or procedure.”
Weeks Marine, Inas. United States575 F.3d 1352, 1358 (Fed. Cir. 2009)he United States
Court of Appeals for the Feder@ircuit has clarified, howevethat when a contract award is
challengedbased on regulatory or procedural violation, “the disappointed bidder must show a
clear and prejudicial violation of applicable statutes or regulatiofgidom Res. Mgmt.. United
States564 F.3d 1374, 1381 (Fed. Cir. 2009) (internal quotation marks omitted).

If an award decision is challengad arbitrary, capricious, or lacking a rational basis, the
trial court “must sustain aagencyaction unless the action does not evince rational reasoning
and consideratiorof relevant factor§. Savantage Fin. Serve. United States595 F.3d 1282,
1287 (Fed. Cir. 2010) (internal alterations, quotation marks, and citations omsedglso
Centech Grp., Inov. United States554 F.3d 1029, 1037 (Fed. Cir. 2009) (holding that the trial
court must “determine whether the contracting agency provided aecwhand reasonable
explanation of its exercise of discretion, and the disappointed bidder beaasyablueden of
showing that the awamiecision hado rational basis.”).

10



The court may set aside the procurembnt“only in extremely limited circumstances.”
United States. John C. Grimberg Co., Inc702 F.2d 1362, 1372 (Fed. Cir. 1983). This rule
recognizes a zone of acceptable results in each particular case and requinesfitheltdecision
evidences that the agency “consgtkthe relevant factors” and is “within the bounds of reasoned
decision making.” Baltimore Gas & Elec. Cou. Natural Res. Def. Council, Inc462 U.S. &,

105 (1983);see also Weeks Maring75 F.3d at 13689 (“We have stated that procurement
decisions invoke . . highly deferential rationddasis review. .. Under that standard, we sustain
an agencyaction evincing rational reasoning andnsiderationof relevant factors) (internal
guotation marks and citations omitted).

On a motion for judgment on the administrative record, the court is required to determi
whether the plaintiff has més burden of proof to show that the challenged procuremetidn
was without a rational basis or not in accordance with the B&eBanknote 365F.3d at1353
(addressing the standards for reviewing judgments in bid protesj;c&gggan Am. Army Servs.
Corp.v. United States90 Fed. Cl. 341, 355 (2009) (“heviewing crossmotions for judgment
on the administrative record, the court must determine ‘whether, giveheallisputed and
undisputed facts, a party has met its burden of proof based on the evideheeregadrd.™)
(citations omitted). The existea of a material issue of fact, however, does not prohibit the
court from granting a motion for judgment on the administrative recordsnie court required
to conduct an evidentiary proceedin@ee Bannum. United States404 F.3d 1346, 13534
(20B) (“RCFC [52.1]requires the [United States] Court of Federal Claims, when making a
prejudice analysis in thirst instance, to make factual findings from tieeordevidence as if it
were conducting &ial on therecord.”).

D. Issues Raised By Plaintiff's Motion For Judgment On The Administratve
Record.

1. Whether Defendantintervenor's Proposal Contained Material
Misrepresentations

a. The Plaintiff's Argument.

Phoenix argues that ATS bid misrepresented the qualifications @ workforce,
becausat listed the qualifications of people who had not made a “commitment” to work for
ATS. Pl Mot.JAR at 1314, 16. Such a commitmenis required by virtue of the “mission
essential” nature of the contract and the Solicitation’s language requiridgneg of ach
proposed staff member’s credentiald. at 45. Thismission is “vitally dependent upon having
a qualified and experienced workforce ready and capable of providing the degupport
services.” Id. at 4 (quoting language used for the bridge contract awarded during this protest).
For this reason, three of the four subfactors within the technical facthe Solicitation required
“evidence that each proposed staff member performing’ servicesspasified credentials[.]”

Id. at 5 (quoting AR Tab 5 at 169).

Phoenix quotes &AO decision for the proposition that any consideration of proposed

employees in the bid evaluation process requires that “the [A]gency msshabdy be assured
that the employee, subcontractor, etc., is firmly committed to the offektgrit. Servs., Inc55
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Comp. Gen. 715, 732 (1976). Such a commitment is especially important “where the
consideration of the factor in question may be determinative of the awlakrcat 73233. If no
commitment is necessary, Phoenix asserts, “an offeror could simply camduntérnet search of
individuals possessing the required credentials, include those individuatise asfferor’'s
‘proposed workforce’ and receive an ‘Acceptable’ technical rating witbeer once cdacting
theindividuals.” Pl. MotJAR at 14.

Phoenix asserts that AT 8y including the credentials of five predecessor contractors’
employees in its proposakpresentethat thosandividuals“agreed (formally or informally) to
become employed by ATS upon awandthe capacity representedld. at 21. Although this
representation is implied[a]n assertion may . . be inferred from conduct other than words.”
Id. (Qquoting RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF CONTRACTS § 159 cmt. a (1981)).

I o URSemployeesvhose credentials ATS listed in its proposal,
signed identical memoranda dated February 23, ,28af8ing that theyverenot asked for their
resumes or certificatdsy ATS “nor have | authorized the use of the same except to URS.” AR
Tab 34 at 1352, 1354.

Nevertheless,hie Agency relied on ATS’s representations |l I and
three Phoenix employees|| I and Jllc—ould be members of ATS’s
workforce. AR Tab 7 at 6392, 64748, 652, 654, 6585 (photocopies afredentials); AR Tab
9 at 67779 (the Agency’s determination that ATS met three technical subfactoraewmunts
based on certifications and licensleat ATS provided).

b. The Government’'s Response.

As a threshold issydghe Government objects to Phoenix’s suggestion that the language
guotedfrom the bridge contrachwarded during this bid protest case should inform the court’s
interpretation of the SolicitationGov't Mot. JAR at 1620. The Government also argues that
ATS’s proposal to recruit and hipersonnel from the incumbent workforce was “neither unusual
[n]or [] inherently improper[.]” Consol. Eng’g Servs., Ing. United States64 Fed. Cl. 617, 634
(2005)) (alterations in original). Indeeds a matter of lawa successor contractorustgive a
predecessor contractor's employees the right of first refusal of em@hdyonder the new
contract. SeeExec. Order No. 13,495, 74&B. REG. 6103 (2009).

As for GAO’s decision inManagenert Senices not only is that case nobinding
precedentbut GAO decision is distinguishable for three reasons: the Solicitation in thiglichse
not require “contractual relationships” with proposed staff membersigiency did not accept
“without more” ATS’s assertions about its proposed staff members, andn#b8clear in its
proposal that it did not have a contractual relationship with the proposed stalffense Gov't
Mot. JAR at 2324; AR Tab 7 at 639 (quoting the ATS technical proposal saying “we intend to
offer the various Management and Refurbishment Section positions proposedfdtiotkieg
individuals”).

C. The Intervenor-Defendant’'sResponse.
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ATS respondsthat it met the Solicitation’s requirementy providing photocopied
credentials of proposed staff members.. Mt. Dismiss at 8.0, 17. Although he Solicitation
did not explicitly define what level of commitmewts required fronproposed staff members,
“[gliven the history of the contracted services, it was likely thasubstantial number of
incumbent workers would be retained by the eventual successful offedotha Agency
reasonably considered submission of the Credentials would be suffaidts purposes.” Int.
Mot. JAR at 14 (citing AR Tab 2 at {flescriling the tasks defined in the Solicitatidsut notthe
sufficiency ofthe requestedredentias)). Accordingly, the Agency acted within its discretion
when it determined the adequacy of the evidencstaif commitment whileevaluating the
proposals.ld. at 15.

d. The Court’s Resolution.

Interpretation of the Solicitation is a questiohlaw. SeeBanknote 365 F.3dat 1353.
“[T] he language of a contract must be given that meaning that would be deawedhé
contract by a reasonably intelligent person acquainted with the contemporameonstances.”
Metric Constructors, Incv. Nat'l Aeronautics & Space Adminl69 F.3d 747, 752 (Fed. Cir.
1999) (quotingHol-Gar Mfg. Corp.v. United States351 F.2d 972, 9753t. Cl. 1965));seealso
Banknote,365 F.3d at 1353 n.4 (stating that the principles for interpreting contracts apply
equaly to interpreting solicitations) The issue before the court is whether ‘@aeasonably
intelligent person acquainted with the contemporaneous circumstangesld read the
Solicitation as requiring an offeror to submit credentials only for arsrkvho hadcommitted to
join its workforce if the Agency awarded the offeror the contract.

The fifty-eight page Solicitation offelittle guidance about whom offerors could count
as a member of the workforce that would perform the contract taskee of the Satitation’s
four technical subfactors requiredferors to “[p]rovide evidence that the offeror’s workforce is
trained and licensed” to perform various duties. AR Tab 3 at 76. Taken aloneotdatg
suggested that the Agencyented to evaluate ontiie offerors’ current workforces at the time
the proposas were submitted. Three pages later, howeaber,Solicitation stated the Agency
would evaluate the credentials of “each proposed staff member” pantptive various duties.
Id. at 79. As such, he Solicitation requienothing, other than the credentials themselves, as
evidence that proposed staff members would become actual staff reerhlilke Agency
awarded the contract to the biddéd. at 2380. The plain language of the Solicitation does
resolve the meaning of “proposed staff member.”

Although “proposed staff member” is not cleaiBfined in the Solicitation, thiermhas
at least one implication as a matter of ldfva bidder lists a proposed stafffatit does not intend
to hirg such a statement has been construed as a misrepresen@gieRlanning Research
Corp. v. United States971 F.2d 736, 39-41 (Fed. Cir. 1992). IrPlanning Researchour
appellate court affirmed a General Services Board of Contract Apgeaisonfinding that the
successful bidder performed an “intended ‘bait and switch” when -fanty of seventyfour
employees actuallgelectedfor the contract were different than the ones proposéd.In this
case, howevelRhoenix offers no evidence that AT8rformed a “bait and switch” or that ATS
did not intend to hire the staff members it listed in its proposal. \Whalening Researchtands
for the proposition that offerors must intend to tpreposed mployees,Phoenix arguethere
also must bea commiment by the prospective employed¢s accept tht work Phoenix
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however, cites nauthority forthe suggestion that proposed staff members must commit to
acceptwork if the Agency awarslthe bidder the contraét.Neither our appellate court’s holding
in Planning Researchor any language in the Solicitation requires such a commitment.

Nor do the “contemporaneous circumstances” persuade the court that “protadsed s
members” must have madeicha commitment to the offeror. A person acquainted with
contemporaneous circumstances would, as Phoenix argues, understand thatsiba this
contract supported was “vitally dependent upon having a qualified and experienckforce
ready and capable of providing the required support services."M®l.JAR at 4 (quoting
language from the bridge contract awardadrdy this bid protest case). Although this language
suggests that having commitments from proposed staff members woulsktu, it does not
demonstratdhat such commitments were required. Insteadreasonably intelligent person
acquainted with the contemporaneous circumstdngesld ask why, if the Agency desired a
commitment from each proposed staff member, it did not request cleenes of that
commitment. C.f, e.g, Planning Research971 F.2d at 737 n.2 (describing a solicitation
requiring statements “defining the extent of corporate commitment taldteation of each
person” for key personnel and requiring commitment letters frorrkegrpersonnel who were
not currently employed by thefferor); see alsoCorp. Am Research Assocs., Ind-228579,
1988 WL 227048 (Comp. Gen. Feb. 17, 1988) (ruling that an offeror was not prejudiced when an
agency reopened negotiations and requested a new round of best and fisalatéferit
discoveredhe offeror’s proposal did not include required letters of commitment).

Not requiring such a commitment would make sense to “a reasonably erteltigrson
acquainted with the contemporaneous circumstarstesounding this case. Employees of the
predeessor contractor were prime candidates to work for the successor @ntrathh because
of their experience and because of the Executive Order requiring they belgwaght of first
refusal under the new contrac®eeExec. Order No. 13,495, #ED. REG. 6103 (2009); AR Tab
3 at 79 (listing the training and credentials required for proposed staffbers under the
Solicitation). But, during the contracting process those employees mayldeieyed—correctly
or incorrectly—that they were under pressure from their current employer not to make any
commitments to a rival contractor. For example, when @@ interviewed [JJilildon
December 16, 2011 Jjjjiflicadvised he was concerned about his current employment with

* Phoenix cites the GAO decision danagement Services hat decision cites a United
States District Court case whose facts are much more similar to theriawéch” scenario of
Planning Fesearchthan to the facts of the instant cas8ee55 Comp. Gen. at 71fciting
Rudolph F. Matzer & Associates, Inc.Warner, 348 F. Supp. 991, 995 (M.D. Fla. 19)2)n
Matzer, the agency awarded a contract based, in part, on a comparison of theemopo
workforces, but one of the awardee’s proposed staff members was deadiraethes resume
was submitted and only one of the eight people who eventually performed thactaves
among those whose resumes the awardee submitted. 348 FagQ®. The GAO concluded
that “the evaluation of personnel qualifications on the basis of resumes of personseewiod a
employed by an offeroand who will not perform the work patently irrational Id. at 995
(emphasis added). Of course, there is a substantial difference betweelngrstads members
(including a dead person) “who will not perform the work” and proposing staffb@esnwho
have not committed to perform the work.
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[Phoenix], which would have ended with the award of the new contract to ||jjjjilicsigned
the statement [that he had not authorized anybody other than Phoenix to use matskde
when requested JJlld [Phoenix] Manager(,] for fear of retribution from [Phoenix].” AR
Tab 30 at 224 (Janll, 2012 findings of the @). Similarly, when asked about the discrepancy
between the statement he had signed and the information he provida@, t‘r-w;é
stated he felt his job was in jeopardy and signed the statement edpaeestd by

[Phoenix] Manager.”ld. at 1225.

Phoenix asserts that the Solicitation must require a commitivecsuse otherwis@an
offeror could simply conduct an internet search of individuals possessing doeede
credentials, include those individuals as the offeror’'s ‘proposed workfarak receive an
‘Acceptable’ technical rating without ever oncentacting the individuals.”PIl. Mot. JAR at 14.
But an offeror would have at least two reasons not to use such an approadhst Waauld be
the prospect of being unable to hire enough members of its proposed workforce to amgid losi
the award under the “bait and switckéenario identified bylanning Research The second
would be the prospect of tort liabilityfSeeMoorev. Big Picture Co, 828 F.2d 270, 2736 (5th
Cir. 1987). InMoore an offeror's proposed staffing chart listed an Eyge of the current
contractorwithout that person’s permissiond. at 271. The United States Court of Appeals for
the Fifth Circuit affirmed a judgmeragainst the offeror for misappropriating the employee’s
name. Id. at 27576; see alsORESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF TORTS 8652C (1977) ({One who
appropriates to his own use or benefit the name or likeness of another is sulgddlity to the
other for invasion of his privacy.”). This court expresses no opinion as tdevitee facts in
the instant case would supportyauchcause of action.

For these reasons, neither the Solicitation’s language nor the contemporaneous
circumstances support an interpretation requiring commitmentstfremroposed staff members
to work for the offeror. Because no such requirement exigt&€®, did not make material
misrepresentationdy including in its proposal credentials of people who had not committed to
serve asts staff members.

2. Whether The Agency Evaluated Defendantintervenor’'s Technical
Proposal On The Factors Specified In The Solicitation

a. The Plaintiff's Argument.

®“A misrepresentation is an assertion that is not in accord with the’ faRESTATEMENT
(SEcOND) OF CONTRACTS 8§ 159 (1981). ATS’s proposal did not represent that it had
employment commitments from the proposed staff members whasentieds ATS submitted.
In fact, ATS’s proposal stated only that ATS intended to offer thvitdhehls employment to
perform contract tasks if ATS was awarded the contract. AR Tab 7 at 68@ni®'s allegation
that ATS made material misrepresentations thus assumes the rigll@ements: (1) the
Solicitation required offerors to have commitmeintsn their proposed staff members, (2) ATS
had no such commitments, and (3) ATS’s submission of its proposal createpliad mssertion
that it had such commitments.
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Phoenix also contendsthe Agency did not evaluate ATS’s technical proposal in
accordance wit the criteria specified in the Solicitatio@ompl. I 105 (allegingiolations of 10
U.S.C. 8§ 230fb)(1), FAR § 15.303(b)(4), anBAR §15.30%a)).

“[B]y requiring the submission of evidence for each proposed worker sbothigy
possessed the requisite credentials, the Solicitation in turn required ®ffEroobtain
commitments from these individuals prior to proposal submission.” PlL.JA&at 16. Had the
Agency’s evaluation of ATS’s proposal required the existence of ammiments, the Agency
would have rejected ATS’s technical proposia. at 1718.

The Government concesl¢hat the Solicitation required offerors to submit something
more than a list of the predecessor contractor's employees. AR TallB804a(GAO decision
stating that the Agecy disavowed the CO’s assertion that such a list would be suffickRt);
Tab 34 at 1284 (Phoenix’s GAO Protest, quoting the CO’s January 11DP2®d2ninations and
Findings);AR Tab 34at 1311 (theCO's January 11, 201Peterminations and Findings, st
that “[a]ny offeror who represented to the Government that it intendededharincumbent’s
workforce to fulfill the requirements which necessitated possessioe titémses, certifications,
and training requirements in question would have been determined to have stantted of
possession of the licenses, certifications, and training requirementgdt)ee@oenixargues
that this means “the Solicitation does not permit offerors to proposerthg bi the incumbent
workforce and, in turn,adisfy the Solicitation requirements,” atitht this is exactly what ATS
did. PIl. Mot.JARat 17.

b. The Government’'s Response.

The Governmentespondghat because the Solicitation did not require the offerors to

obtain commitments from their proposed staff members, the Agency didrrotits evaluation

of ATS’s proposal. Gov't Mot. JAR at 26. The Government further argues that the
inconsistency between theglX3 statement and the Solicitation’s requirements doegstablish
that the Agency did nobflow the criteria as stated in the Solicitatiold. at 27. “While the
agency agrees that the statement is inconsistent with the solicitatioracthierstatement was
not the basis for the award decision. The award decision was based uponoasabiathe
offeror's proposal conducted by a technical evaluateam.” AR Tab 40 at 1574.

C. The DefendantIntervenor’'s Response.

“The administrative record unequivocally demonstrates that the Agenmyerty
evaluated all four proposals in accordance with the stated Solicita&tiors tand adequately
documented its award decision for this procuremehtt’ Mot. JAR at 13 (citing AR Tab 13 at
729-50; Tab 14 at 7583).

d. The Court’s Resolution.
As discussed above, the terms of the Solicitation did not eeqmy commitment from
the proposed staff members to work for thaccessfulofferor. Thus,although Phoenix

characterizes th&lay 23, 2012Complaint as a challenge to the Agency’s evaluation of the
proposals, it actually challeng¢he Solicitation and # Agency’s decision not to evaluate
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proposals orihe basisof the proposed workers’ commitmengeeBlue & Gold Fleet, L.Pv.
United States492 F.3d 1308, 1313 (Fed. Cir. 20Qf@plding thatif a solicitationdid not include
a given requirement, thegency could not decide at the time of the evaluation to appdy th
requirement, and the protestoassertion thathe agency should have done so wahallenge to
the solicitation rather than to the agency’s evaluation).

Similar analysis shows that the é&uqcy did not violate FAR § 15.303(b)(4), which states
that “[t]he source selection authority shi@]nsure that proposals are evaluated based solely on
the factors and subfactors contained in the solicitdtionFAR 8 15.30%a), which states in
pertinert part, “An agency shall evaluate competitive proposals and then assess thieie rel
gualities solely on the factors and subfactors specified in the stdicita

In addition, Phoenix cites no evidence in the Administrative Record that deacp
evallated ATS’s technical proposal on factors other than those specified irolibgagon.
Phoenix does cite the CO’s statement that a proposagligte incumbent workforgewithout
photocopies of the required credentia®uld have been rated accept@ablAR Tab 34 at 1311.
But this misstatement discussed a hypothetical situatebn(stating that such an offerowbuld
have beeretermined to have met the standard” (emphasis added)). The Administetvel R
shows that ATS’s proposal included five staff members from thembent contractorghat
ATS complied with the Solicitation requirements by submitting photosapi¢heir credentials
(AR Tab 7 at 6442, 64748, 652, 66665), and that the Agency evaluated ATS’s proposal
based on those credéls, AR Tab 13 at 735 (Proposal Analysis Report describing the
photocopies ATS provided). The Agency therefore met its obligatioeuallfate sealed bids
and competitive proposals and make an award based solely on the factifiedspedhe
solicitation.” 10 U.S.C. § 230B)(1).

3. Whether The Agency Acted Arbitrarily And Capriciously In Its
Evaluation of Defendantlntervenor’sTechnical Proposal And In Its
Investigation Into Alleged Misrepresentation.

a. The Plaintiff's Argument.

Phoenix asserts thahe Agency acted arbitrarily and capriciously in eadihg ATS’s
technical proposal

because the Contracting Officer, (a) entirely failed to considerriaoaspects

of the misrepresentation issue in connection with his decision that no
misrepresentatiomccurred and with the evaluation of ATS’ technical proposal,
(b) offered an explanation for his decision that runs counter to the evidence before
the Agency, and (c) the Contracting Officer's decision and evaluatiorscare
implausible that it could not kescribed to a difference in view.

Compl. 1 98.

Specifically,the CO’s decision to interview only three people during his PIA and OCI
investigation led him to fail to consider important aspects ofntiszepresentation issue. PI.
Mot. JAR at 23. The pretest Phoenix filed with the GAO asserted that Adi8 not have
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permission to use the credentials of Phoamd URS employees in its technical proposal. AR
Tab 21 at 1025 (“URS also confirmed with URS employees that they didweopgimission for
SBAR a ATS to use their respective licenses, certifications anddoniig records, nor did they
give them directly to ATS.”); AR Tab 21 at 1035, 103hereforethe QO'’s failure to interview

, the contract manager, ajjjj | | I 2. the URSemployees
whose credentialsvere submittedby ATS as part of its technical proposal, prevented tie C
from considering “when, how, and from whom the credentials werenglstaand the alleged
permission [to use the credentials was] given.” Pl. NIaR at 23-26.

Phoenix also assertshat the CO’sexplanationfor his decisionthat ATS made no
misrepresentationuns counterto the evidencebefore the Agency Id. at 27-31. The CO
reported tha |l I andlllllcold him that they voluntari provided copies of
their credentials before the submission of propobalithe GO’'s handwritten interview notes do
not indicate whe {jjjjilicor Illlllcorovided copies of their credentials. AR Tab 28 at 1214.
Therefore,Phoenix contersithateach vithess wasot interviewed independentlgnd “had the
benefit of hearing each other in order to aligair respective stories.” RWot. JAR at 29. In
addition Phoenix points to a discrepancy between old the @®—that he gave his
credentits to [ilico give to]illc—and wha tated in a declaration that ATS
provided to the CO-that he provided his credentials and gaveliiliicverbal
authorization to forward them to ATS. AR Tab 30 at 1225, 1234.

In sum, Phoelix concludesthat in light of this evidence, theGX determinations and
findings that there was no PIA and no OCI were so implausible that theyl“coube ascribed
to a difference in view or the product of agency expertise.” PIl. JMdR.at 8.

b. The Government’s Response.

The Government asserts that there was no misrepresentation isgshe #gency to
investigate because the Solicitation did not require evidence of a “cowantit from an
offeror’'s proposed staff members and therefore ATS’s proposal did not tingbliy had received
such commitmentsGov’'t Mot. JAR at 2125, 27-28.

The Government also argues that the Agency’s investigation wesemarbitrary nor
capricious. Id. at 3444. That investigation, the Government asserts, reasonablymieed that
the proposed workers voluntarily provided their credentials for ATSE. Id. at 4142 (citing
AR Tab 39 at 155Bb1). The predecessor contractommployees whose credentials ATS
submitted in its proposals signed statements on or before December 1, 20dticgrifiat they
had “voluntarily provided copies of [their] licenses and certificati@ml gave verbal
authorization tofjjjjlifll LSS Contract Manager, to forward these documents to Alliance
Technical Services for use in their proposalbmittal and consideration for future employment
under Solicitation FA46109-R-0013.” AR Tab 30 at 12326. The three Phoenix

employees | Y I and Jllllld —told the Contracting Officer, in separate

telephonenterviews on December 16, 2011, that they had directly or indirectly provided copies

of their credentials t{jjilld 'd. at 122425. | cand R caid they did so “for

future employment opportunities.”ld. The Contracting Officer reported th|jjjjjjjfidand
I s-d they had previously signed conflicting statements because they fiegribution
from Phoenix.Id.
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The Government asserts that ther@ractingOfficer’s decision noto interview|jjjjii
I 2l 2s not a failure to consider importaaspects of the misrepresentation
issue. Gov't Mot. JAR at 3740. The Government quotes two pages of PMI's Protest saying,
“URS did not give permission to ATS to use [URS’s employees’] licenses, catitiins or
training records in ATS’s technical progal” Id. at 38 (quotingAR Tab 21 at 1025, 1036)
(emphasis and alteration by the Government). Even if PMI did allege tlsatmdroperly used
URS employees’ credentials, the Government asserts, the decisioo imberview
I o d . vas reasonable in light of Federal Circuit precedent stating that “[tlhe
contracting officer is the arbiter of what, and how much, information kdsie Id. (quoting
John C. Grimberg Cov. United States185 F.3d 1297, 1303 (Fed. Cir. 1999).

C. The DefendantIntervenor's Response.

“[Tlhe Agency rationally concluded that interviews |||k = I

were necessary becausat the time of the investigatienonly they had given contradictory
written statements concerning whether they ¢vakdad not given verbal permission for the use of
their credentials in ATS’s proposal.” InMot. JAR at 28 (citing AR Tab 40 at 1577 (the
Agency’'s Memorandum of Law filed with the GAO)).

d. The Court’s Resolution.

An agency’s decision is arbitrary andpeicious if the agency “entirely failed to consider
an important aspect of the problem, offered an explanation for its dedisibruhs counter to
the evidence before the agency, or is so implausible that it could not beeddoria difference
in view or the product of agency expertisMotor Vehicle Mfrs. Asss63 U.S. at 43.

In light of the court’determiningthat the Solicitation did not require a commitment from
proposed staff members wmrk for the offeroyif the Agency awarded the offertite contract,
whether such a commitment existed was not “an important aspect of thengtdbe Agency
investigated. Phoerix focus has beermon whether the proposed staff members voluntarily
submitted their credentials for ATS to use in its Wdt nohing in the Solicitation requise
voluntary submissions from the proposed staff members to the offérbesefore although the
court agrees with Phoenix that its Protest did allege that ATS impraopsty/ the credentials of
URS employees as well as Phoenix employdbe Contracting Officer's decision not to
interview |l I or Illlllccid not constitute a failure to consider an important
aspect of the problem.

The QO's explanation for his decisiodid involve his finding that the proposedtaff
members voluntarily allowed ATS to use their credentials in its propdgad Tab 39 at 15562
(Contracting Officer's Statement of Facts)And, this decisionwas supported by sufficient
evidence to survive rational basis reviewSee Savantage Fin. Serysb95 F.3dat 1287
(describing the standard of reviewAt the time the CO conducted his investigation, Phoenix
had presented evidence that ATS had used the credentials of three Phoenieesnpityout
their permission; the @ individually inteviewed all three, each of whom told him that they had,
in fact, voluntarily made their credentials available. AR Tab 3748293. The ©'’s
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explanation for his decision that ATS committed no material misrepeggsn thus did not run
counter to eviderebefore the Agency.

The CO'’s conclusion that no misrepresentation occurred also was plausible,tigaten
the Solicitation did not require a commitment from proposed staff menibesork for the
offeror if the Agency awarded the offeror the contract.

V. CONCLUSION.

For the foregoing reasons, Phoenix’'s June 12, 2012 Motion To Supplement The
Administrative RecordAnd The Court’'s Records denied, the Government’'s June 12, 2012
Motion To Strike is granted, Phoenix’s September 6, 2012 second Motion To SupplEnee
Administrative RecordAnd The Court’s Record is grantedlTS’s August 6, 2012 Motion To
Dismiss Pursuant To RCFC 12(b)(i% denied,the Government'sand ATS’s July 9, 2012
Motions For Judgment On The Administrative Recardgranted andPhoenix’s June 22, 2012
Motion For Judgment On The Administrative Record is denidthe Clerk of the Court is
directed to enter judgment for the Government and the Intervenor.

IT IS SO ORDERED.
s/ Susan G. Braden
SUSAN G. BRADEN
Judge
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